Reducing Exposure to Arsenic and Lead in Mining and Smelting Communities Alaverdi and Akhtala of Lori region, Armenia

Master of Public Health Integrating Experience Project Problem Solving Framework

by

Astghik Atanyan MD, MPH Candidate

Advising team: Varduhi Petrosyan, MS, PhD Casey Bartrem, PhD

Presented to:

Ministries of Health and Nature Protection of the Republic of Armenia

Gerald and Patricia Turpanjian School of Public health American University of Armenia Yerevan, Armenia

2018

Acknowledgements:

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisors Dr. Varduhi Petrosyan and Dr. Casey Bartrem, for continuous motivation and guidance throughout my master's project preparation and learning process. I would like to thank all my colleagues from the AUA Turpanjian School of Public Health (SPH) for their support and being always ready to give advice. I would also like to thank all my colleagues in my other workplaces, as well as my close friends and family members for their patience, understanding and motivation. I want to express particular gratefulness to SPH visiting professor Dr. Margrit fon Braun for her timely advice which helped me to stay on my way.

Table of contents

| Ackno | owledgements: | i |
|------------|---|-------|
| Table | of contents | ii |
| Execu | ıtive summary | iv |
| 1 | Statement and magnitude of the problem | 1 |
| 1.1 | Introduction | 1 |
| | 1.1.1 Health, social and environmental impacts of mining | 1 |
| 1.2 | Situation in Armenia | 4 |
| 2 Alave | Key determinants of exposure to arsenic and lead among community members of erdi and Akhtala | 7 |
| 3 | Prevention/ intervention strategies | 9 |
| 3.1 | Current prevention/intervention strategies | 9 |
| | 3.1.1 Nazik tailing pond's capping and planting with trees | 9 |
| | 3.1.2 Akhtala community empowerment project | 9 |
| | 3.1.3 Strengthening regulations and their enforcement mechanisms in the mining sec in Armenia | |
| 3.2 | Proposed prevention/intervention strategies | 11 |
| | 3.2.1 Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala | 11 |
| | 3.2.2 Seismic stabilization and hermetisation of walls of arsenic graveyard in Alaver | di 11 |
| | 3.2.3 Clean-up of Akhtala churchyard | 12 |
| | 3.2.4 Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala | 13 |
| | 3.2.5 Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond | 13 |
| 4 | Policy Priority setting | 13 |
| 4.1 | Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala | 13 |
| 4.2 | Seismic stabilization and hermetisation of walls of arsenic graveyard in Alaverdi | 14 |
| 4.3 | Clean-up of Akhtala churchyard | 14 |
| 4.4 | Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala | 15 |
| 4.5 | Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond | 15 |
| 5 | Specific recommendations | 15 |
| 6 | Implementation and practice | 16 |
| 6.1 | Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala | 16 |
| 6.2 | Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond | 17 |

| 6.3 | Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala | | | | |
|---|---|------------------|--|--|--|
| 7 | Evaluation | 18 | | | |
| 7.1 | Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala | 18 | | | |
| 7.2 Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond | | | | | |
| 7.3 | Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala | 19 | | | |
| 8 | Conclusion Error! Books | mark not defined | | | |
| Refere | ence list Error! Booki | mark not defined | | | |
| Tables | S | 26 | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Appen | ndix 1: | 27 | | | |

Executive summary

Contamination of mining and smelting communities and, as a result, community members' exposure to toxicants remains a hot public health issue worldwide. The latter is particularly severe in low and middle income countries. Armenia is not an exception. There are 22 active metal mines in Armenia, mainly located in Lori and Syunik regions. Alaverdi and Akhtala in Lori region are prioritized mining and smelting communities for the current project due to significant contamination with toxic metals, particularly with lead and inorganic arsenic. The three main issues of concern in Alaverdi leading to significant spread of toxicants into the environment are smelter's smokestack, arsenic graveyard, and uncontrolled use of slag. The biggest sources of contamination in Akhtaka are abandoned "Nazik" tailing pond, the ore processing plant, and the local churchyard.

This paper aims to develop a comprehensive overview of factors leading to people's exposure to arsenic and lead in the mining and smelting communities Alaverdi and Akhtala in Lori region, analyze current prevention and intervention strategies, and suggest the most appropriate practice(s) to minimize the public health risk.

Social-ecological model of behavior change was used to categorize the key determinants of exposure of community members of Alaverdi and Akhtala to arsenic and lead into the societal, community, relationship and individual levels. The possible interventions to solve the public health problem could address all four level key determinants. The proposed interventions are continuous educational programs in Alaverdi and Akhtala, seismic stabilization and hermetisation of walls of arsenic graveyard in Alaverdi, clean-up of Akhtala churchyard, clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala, as well as capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailings pond in Akhtala. Considering factors such as intervention's effectiveness,

political, technical, economical feasibility, intervention's cost and sustainability of the results, the following interventions were prioritized: 1. Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala, 2. Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond in Akhtala, 3. Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala. The project team will develop an appropriate monitoring and evaluation plan for the recommended interventions.

1 Statement and magnitude of the problem

1.1 Introduction

The Oxford dictionary defines mining as "the process of getting coal or other minerals from under the ground" and smelting as "heating and melting the ore (rock that contains metal) in order to obtain the metal it contains." The mining industry has an important role in modern economics, though it frequently is a topic of concern due to public health risks, mainly associated with toxic emissions into the environment throughout the mining process (see Appendix 1). This results in human exposures to toxicants in water, soil, food, and air via dermal contact, ingestion, and inhalation.²

This paper aims to develop a comprehensive overview of factors leading to people's exposure to toxicants in the mining communities of Alaverdi and Akhtala in Lori region, analyze current prevention and intervention strategies, and suggest the most appropriate practice to minimize the public health problem.

1.1.1 Health, social and environmental impacts of mining

The mineral ore contains only a small percent of desired mineral. After beneficiation, the waste which contains toxicants is stored at sites affecting the health of people living in the same geographic area.^{3,4} The toxicity of an any compound depends on a variety of factors such as the type of toxicant, acute or chronic exposure, body mass and age, and exposure route.⁵ In terms of impact on human health, the most dangerous toxicants in mining wastes are metals, particularly lead, arsenic, cadmium, and mercury.² While four are naturally occurring metals in the environment, they are in the United States (US) Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease

Registry's (ATSDR) priority list because they are commonly found in mining sites and pose significant threat to human health.⁶

1.1.1.1 Health impacts

According to WHO estimates, lead poisoning resulted in approximately 500,000 deaths and loss of more than nine million disability-adjusted life years in 2015, most of which occurred in lowand middle-income countries (LMIC).⁷ The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) classifies lead as a probable human carcinogen.⁸ Lead can enter human body through ingestion, which is the predominant route of exposure among the general population, and inhalation (breathing lead dust), which is the predominant route of exposure among the mining workers. There is no safe amount of lead in the human organism, and almost every organ can be affected by lead. 10 Lead affects the nervous system, causing degenerative disorder of the central nervous system among adults, and development/behavioral disorders among children such as decreased postnatal growth, delayed puberty, decreased cognitive performance and hearing, low intelligence quotient (IQ), attention related behavioral problems (attention deficit hyperactive disorder) and others. 10,11 Lead can also lead to decreased kidney function, cardiovascular and reproductive disorders, as well as death in case of high blood lead concentration.¹¹ Children are much more vulnerable to lead poisoning: children ingest 4-5 times more lead than adults, mainly due to hand to mouth behavior. Moreover, the blood-brain barrier in young children is not fully developed, resulting in transfer of lead from blood to the brain and serious neurological disorders. 10 Lead is harmful for fetus too, as it crosses the placental barrier in-utero and harms the fetus, resulting in reduced development, decreased mental abilities, and premature birth.¹⁰

Inorganic arsenic is classified as a known human carcinogen.⁸ The main source of inorganic arsenic is metal mining and smelting. People may be exposed to arsenic through inhalation or ingestion.¹² Exposure to inorganic arsenic leads to negatively affects the production of red and white blood cells, vomiting and nausea, and damaged blood vessels. Ingestion of inorganic arsenic may lead to liver, bladder, lung, and skin cancer. Long-term exposure in children may lead to low IO scores.¹²

Cadmium is a probable human carcinogen,⁸ and also is more dangerous for children due to their lower body mass.¹³ Inhaled cadmium can damage the lungs, damaging epithelial cells and causing tracheobronchitis and pneumonitis.¹⁴ Ingested cadmium can lead to stomach irritation, vomiting, and diarrhea. Some of the long-term effects of cadmium exposure include damage of kidneys and bones (fragile bones).¹³

Mercury is the only metal that exists in liquid form at room temperature. Mining wastes contain metallic and inorganic mercury.¹⁵ Exposure to mercury can be through dermal absorption, ingestion, or inhalation. The most dangerous exposure to inorganic mercury is inhalation of vaporized form of it. Mercury poisoning can lead to kidney, brain, and lung damage, may cause coughing, vomiting, nausea, chest pain, increased blood pressure, coordination problems, tremors, hearing or vision disorders, and memory problems in case of chronic exposure.¹⁶

1.1.1.2 Social impacts

The social impacts of the mining industry on the well-being of the communities in different countries is quite controversial. Those countries that register economic growth from the mining industry have issues transferring the financial gains to the general public living in the mining communities. The latter is especially unjust since the LMIC communities bear the majority of the health, environmental, and social problems resulting from the mining.¹⁷

Frequently, mining workers have low salaries and no health insurance.¹⁸ They do not voice their concerns due to fears of job loss.¹⁸ There are continuous land conflicts between mining companies and local communities.^{18,19} Noise, vibration, and dust resulting from mining and/or smelting processes, as well as lack of access to clear air, soil and water and low quality agricultural crop production negatively affect the quality of life of local communities.¹⁸

1.1.1.3 Environmental impact

The mining industry has significant impact on the environment.³ The most significant consequences are contamination of water resources, which is difficult to mitigate. When sulfides from tailings, open pit walls, and underground mines contact the water and air, sulfuric acid is formed, which can dissolve toxic metals in the solution (Acid Mine Drainage-AMD). AMD can contaminate surface or ground water, impact aquatic life and result in the exposure of the local community members to contaminated water and food. Other pathways of impact are soil erosion and pollution, as well as air pollution by small, mobile dust particles. The whole geographic area around mining sites is being irreversibly harmed due to uncontrolled mining activity.³ The destroyed environment leads to damage in such economic sectors as health, agriculture and tourism.

1.2 Situation in Armenia

Armenia is a lower middle-income country with the area of 29,743 km² and a population of about 3 million.²⁰ There are more than 670 mines in Armenia, of which 22 are active metal mines, including polymetallic, gold and gold-polymetallic, copper, copper-molybdenum, iron, and aluminum mines.²¹

The Lori region is located in northern Armenia with a population of 221,000 and area of approximately 3,800 km.² Lori is rich in mineral ores, such as lead-zinc-polymetallic ores, copper or copper-molybdenum ores, and iron ores.²² Alaverdi and Akhtala are prioritized in terms of public health risk due to significant contamination with toxicants.²³

Armenia's oldest and largest polymetallic smelter is located in Alaverdi. The smelter was established in the 18th century, had been paralyzed after the collapse of the Soviet Union, and reopened in late 1990s.²⁴ Currently, the smelter produces over 10,000 metric tons of copper blister annually.²⁵

The three main issues of concern in Alaverdi leading to significant spread of toxicants into the environment are smelter's smokestack, arsenic graveyard, and uncontrolled use of slag.²⁴ The smelter's smokestack is a big source of contamination. Existing research showed an inverse association between lead contamination and distance from the smelter.²⁴ The smelting company tried to use filters preventing most of the emissions into the atmosphere, but stopped using it due to high cost.²⁶

The arsenic graveyard is located less than 1 km north of Alaverdi, around the road leading to the "Madan" neighborhood.²⁷ The graveyard is located on the heal by Lalvar river.²⁸ The graveyard has 130 m width and 150 m length. It was built in 1980s and contains the arsenic waste from Soviet era metallurgical activities.²⁷ The biggest environmental and public health threat is the location of the graveyard in an active seismic zone, as possible earthquake might lead to uncontrolled spread of the buried hazardous waste.²⁸ According to the smelting company, the graveyard was fenced in the past, but the fences were stolen.²⁹ In 2009, when the issue of unregulated graveyard was raised, the smelting company added signboards and fenced the graveyard.²⁷ The walls of the graveyard are not hermetic, the cracks and holes give access to air

and rain water, which results in the leakage of hazardous waste to the underground water and eventually to the riverbank.²⁷

Another issue of concern in Alaverdi is uncontrolled use of slag, which is an operating byproduct of copper smelting, and has high concentrations of arsenic, lead, and other toxicants.²⁴ The slag is being sold by the smelting company and is used on the roads during winter months to melt the snow. For example, in the year 2005 alone, the company sold 29,062.35 tons of slag.²⁸ In February 2017, around 110,000 tons of slag was given to the Alaverdi municipality to spread on the roads, school-yards, and residential yards.³⁰

One underground (operating since Soviet era) polymetallic mine and one open-pit mine (operating since 2001) are located near Akhtala.³¹ The latter was recently closed, and the mining company obtained permission from the government to use it as a new tailing pond.³² The main sources of contamination in Akhtala are "Nazik" tailing pond and the local church yard.³³ Nazik tailing (0.4-0.5 million square meters) is located in Akhtala, near the Akhtala church. It was conserved in 1988, then used for a short period in 2000.³⁴ The big amount of waste was taken from the Nazik tailing and moved to the Akhtala river coast.³⁵ In 2012, a part of Nazik tailing pond was covered with vegetation to stabilize the soil.²² The most contaminated area in Akhtala is the churchyard, where in the 10th century a royal dynasty of Kurikian's had a fortress and smelter that produced copper coins.²⁴

Both Alaverdi and Akhtala are significantly contaminated with toxicants. In 2001, a study observed the highest level of lead contamination of exterior dust and children's play areas in Alaverdi, which was higher in the areas surrounding the smelter.³⁶ The study conducted in 2014 showed increased levels of arsenic and lead in soil samples from Alaverdi and Akhtala: 100% and 22% of all soil samples in Alaverdi exceeded maximum allowable concentration (MAC) for

arsenic of 12 mg/kg and for lead of 400 mg/kg, respectively.²³ More than ninety-three percent (93.6%) and 26.7% of all soil samples in Akhtala exceeded MAC for arsenic and for lead, respectively.²³ In addition to identifying the concentrations of toxic metals in soil, the study also included toxic metal detection at 10 cm and 20 cm depth to identify a maximum background metal concentration.²³ Forty-four percent (44%) of all arsenic measurements, 90% of all lead measurements, and 50% of all chromium measurements exceeded the highest background measurement for each toxic metal. The latter indicates contamination of the surface layer of soil.³³

The blood lead survey among children 1 to 5 years old showed that 83.8% of children in Akhtala and 72.5% in Alaverdi had blood lead levels above 5 µg/dl, the reference value for children 1-5 years old in the US.³⁷ Another study on reproductive health of women living in Alaverdi reported a higher risk of perinatal mortality, stillbirths, and induced abortions due to medical indications, as compared with Artik, a comparable town that does not have a metal mining and smelting industry.³⁸ This literature suggests significant health risks for people living in Alaverdi and Akhtala as a result of exposures to toxic metals from the mining and smelting industries.

2 Key determinants of exposure to arsenic and lead among community members of Alaverdi and Akhtala

According to the social-ecological model of behavior change, all the key determinants of exposure of community members of Alaverdi and Akhtala to arsenic and lead can be categorized into individual, relationship, community, and societal levels (see Appendix 2).³⁹ These classifications can then be used to identify solutions targeted on specific levels.

The societal level key determinants include inappropriate regulation, legislation, and taxation of the mining sector, as well as contamination of the environment with toxic metals due to mining Protection and the Ministry of Energy Infrastructures and Natural Resources. The main gap in the mining code of Armenia is in aspects related to waste management.²¹ Specifically, the mine waste tailings are categorized as "man-made deposit," and due to the wording, they are being considered as the property of the Republic of Armenia. Thus, the mining company is exempt from the responsibility for the mining waste management.²¹ Armenian law does not require tax on mining wastes, but 99% of all industrial waste in Armenia is formed by the mining industry.²¹ This makes mining activities very cheap in Armenia and does not provide any motivation to the industry to use cleaner technologies that are more expensive. The environmental pollution by the mining industry, including contamination of soil and house dust, has a key role in people's exposure to toxic metals.^{21,41} A study conducted in a former mining community showed that factors having the strongest association with high lead levels in children's blood were the mean lead concentration in soil and house floor dust.⁴¹

The community level key determinants include absence of proper remediation of abandoned tailing ponds, uncontrolled use of slag, lack of knowledge on toxic metals among community members, housing characteristics (concrete stone vs brick houses, distance from the source of contamination, and automobile traffic near home.^{37,42} Lack of safety measures in the abandoned "Nazik" tailing pond in Akhtala is important factor leading to exposure of community members to toxic metals. Nazik Tailing pond is not fenced. There are no warning signs about hazardous substances. People and animals have free access to it. Lack of knowledge among community members about the health hazards caused by toxic metals and their exposure routes is another factor leading to toxic metal exposure.³³

The relationship level key determinants include number of people in the family, presence of smoking family member, household's low income, household hygiene practices, caregiver's lower education (in case of children) and household member's employment in the mining industry.^{37,41}

Individual level key determinants include male gender, younger age (before 1 year) among children, behavioral factors such as hand to mouth behavior among children, and child's poor hygiene. 41,43

A study conducted in Alaverdi and Akhtala concluded that caregiver's lower education, low frequency of furniture dusting, and closer proximity of the house to the toxic source were statistically significantly associated with elevated levels of lead in blood among children in the mentioned communities.³⁷

3 Prevention/intervention strategies

3.1 Current prevention/intervention strategies

3.1.1 Nazik tailing pond's capping and planting with trees

In 2012, 0.7 hectares of abandoned tailing pond Nazik in Akhtala community was planted with 10 different species of 523 trees as a trial aimed to test if trees could survive. The five-month follow-up showed 96% survival rate, which was considered a successful outcome. This experience is an example of preventing the erosion of tailings and reducing the dust from the site.²²

3.1.2 Akhtala community empowerment project

In 2013, a community empowerment pilot project was implemented in Akhtala. The project included the following four components: 1) thorough risk assessment, 2) blood lead level

assessment in children, 3) community trainings, and 4) development of a local action plan.³³

Community trainings covered general information on mining industry worldwide and in Armenia, information on toxic metals (physical characteristics, origin, routs of exposure, way of transmission), health effects of toxic metals, ways of protection from exposure to toxic metals (clean home, self-hygiene, proper nutrition), and diagnostic measures for toxic metal poisoning. Trainings were conducted for the teachers of kindergartens and schools, mothers of children, workers in the Mayor's office, local NGO representatives, active community members, healthcare providers, and high school students. Training presentations and brochures were made based on a comprehensive literature review and were adapted for the specific audience groups. The evaluation of the intervention showed statistically significant improvement of the knowledge score from approximately 60% to 83% among the participants.³³ The project team collaborated with the Mayor's office and local NGO representatives to develop a local action plan that could help the community to reduce the environmental contamination with toxic metals and its consequences.

3.1.3 Strengthening regulations and their enforcement mechanisms in the mining sector in Armenia

In the recent years, Armenian mining sector has undergonereforms.⁴⁴ For example, the government of the Republic of Armenia approved the Natural Resources Management strategy in February 2018, which proposed to ensure sustainable management of natural resources processing.^{45,46} The strategy pays a particular attention to waste management: for the first time in the Republic of Armenia, the law will force mining companies in the mining sector to comply with mandatory processing of waste.⁴⁶ One of the objectives of the strategy is to create an inventory of mining wastes disposals (active and closed sites) by the year 2025, implement a

waste management system, and ensure a continuous monitoring of land pollution and other negative impacts of mining waste. This strategy prioritized biological remediation methods.

The new government of the Republic of Armenia highlighted the importance of mandatory inspections in all the mining companies of Armenia, minimizing any possibility of corruption via involving third party representatives from environmental NGOs. The inspections aim to explore and eliminate all the inconsistencies between the scope of actions of the mining companies and the current Armenian code of mining.

3.2 Proposed prevention/intervention strategies

3.2.1 Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala

The lack of knowledge on toxic metals, their origins, routs of exposure and safe behavior practices is one of the key determinants of exposure to arsenic and lead among community members of Alaverdi and Akhtala to be addressed. The effectiveness of the conducted trainings in Akhtala is a justification for organization of a similar educational program, which could use the same training materials and presentations, adapting them to the local community

3.2.2 Seismic stabilization and hermetisation of walls of arsenic graveyard in Alaverdi

The iron-concrete construction of arsenic graveyard in Alaverdi is about 40 years old. The facility never went through renovations and it is totally abandoned. The walls of the three-floor construction are under the ground and are not visible and there is no information about their exact condition. Nevertheless, the decay of the walls above the ground is obvious.⁴⁷ The decay is happening because of chemically active substances inside the graveyard. The chemical activity could result from a contact with air and water with the arsenic waste through the damaged walls of the graveyard. The seismic stabilization and hermetisation of the arsenic

graveyard aims to exclude possible environmental health hazard due to earthquakes and leakage of toxic waste out of the graveyard. The team performing the intervention should include environmental engineers, seismic engineers, and environmental health specialists. The US Environment Protection Agency standards on waste disposal could be used for the stabilization and hermetisation of graveyard.⁴⁸

3.2.3 Clean-up of Akhtala churchyard

The Akhtala churchyard is an important public area both for the community members and visitors. The cleanup strategy should be based on the thorough assessment of depth, shape and expansion of the pollution in the churchyard.³³ After the thorough assessment, a churchyard clean-up proposal should be prepared and presented to the granting organizations. The working team should include environmental engineers and public health professionals.³³ One of the possible clean-up techniques is phytoremediation. Phytoremediation is a technique of contaminated soil remediation, which is used to immobilize, extract, contain, or degrade different contaminants, including toxic metals from soil or water.⁴⁹ This is the most aesthetically acceptable technique of soil remediation, though it can be used only for slightly to moderately contaminated soil and frequently is used as a final stage after traditional remediation.⁵⁰ Phytoremediation has been successfully completed in many countries, but it is an appropriate remediation technique only in case of low and moderate contamination.⁵⁰ Given that the Church yard is a historical monument and excavations might not be permitted by the Ministry of Culture of Armenia, phytoremediation might be one of the best solutions. It can also be an option for residential areas and gardens in Alaverdi and Akhtala.

3.2.4 Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala

"Environmental oasis" could be offered to at least children, who live in Alaverdi and Akhtala, the most vulnerable population group in terms of toxic metal exposure. The contaminated hotspots are kindergarten yards, schoolyards, and children's play areas. The clean-up should include the removal of all the contaminated soil and replacement with soils verified to be well below soil action levels for all metals.

3.2.5 Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond

The survival rate of trees planted on the part of "Nazik" tailing is the basis for considering phytoremediation of the whole tailing pond, which will stabilize the soil and minimize the spread of toxicants. The intervention includes capping (coverage with clean soil), planting (planting with trees) and isolation (fencing).

4 Policy Priority setting

All the suggested strategies are categorized using the following criteria: 1) effectiveness, 2) political, technical and economic feasibility, 3) cost, and 4) sustainability of proposed interventions (Table 1).

4.1 Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala

The Akhtala community empowerment program was proven to be effective in raising the awareness of community members about the existing contamination in the community and ways to minimize the community members' exposure to toxic metals.³³ The advantages of the proposed program include the availability of training materials developed for the Akhtala pilot project. The intervention is politically, economically and technically feasible to conduct. The cost of intervention will be relatively high due to continuous element of the program. On the

other hand, the continuous element gives sustainability to the program. Main disadvantage of continuous educational program is, that it does not solve the core problem of metal contamination in Alaverdi and Akhtala, so the advantage is mainly in individual, and partly community level, but not for the society level. Nevertheless, awareness raising on the health risks of toxic metals and safe behavior practices is crucial for local communities.

4.2 Seismic stabilization and hermetisation of walls of arsenic graveyard in Alaverdi

The seismic stabilization could effectively prevent a huge environmental hazard in case of possible earthquake, and hermetisation would eliminate the problem of leakage of hazardous waste into the ground water, which is extremely difficult to mitigate. It would be politically feasible, though technically and economically difficulties would arise due to extremely high cost and required human resources. However, if implemented, the project would have quite high sustainability and despite all the challenges, the seismic stabilization and hermetisation of arsenic graveyard is one of the first interventions to be done in Alaverdi.

4.3 Clean-up of Akhtala churchyard

The Akhtala churchyard is a contamination hot spot that is widely popular both for the community members and for the tourists visiting Lori region, hence, its clean-up should be prioritized among other interventions. The main challenge of Akhtala churchyard clean-up is the fact, that this area cannot be isolated because it is a historical monument and a working church. It might not be politically feasible to conduct excavations there, at least to eliminate the superficial contaminated layer of soil and replace it with clean one. Hence, the best solution could be phytoremediation, remediation with the help of specific plants to stabilize metals in soil near their roots.⁵⁰ The project could have short-term and long-term effectiveness in terms of

reducing the exposure levels. The sustainability of the intervention might be moderate, as it might need repetitive efforts of phytoremediation.

4.4 Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala

The main advantage of clean-up of children's play areas is protection of the group most vulnerable to metals poisoning. The intervention is politically, economically, and technically feasible. The cost of intervention depends on total area and volume of soil under replacement. It might be challenging to find an adequate quantity of clean soil. The clean soil than should be covered by grass, in order to stabilize it.

4.5 Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond

The advantage of capping, planting and isolation of the "Nazik" tailing ponds includes that fact that it would limit the availability of the most contaminated hazardous waste to both humans and animals. Capping only is the most cost effective, but the least sustainable and effective soil remediation technique. Nevertheless, the planting and isolation of capped area makes the intervention politically, technically, and economically acceptable.

5 Specific recommendations

Based on the available human and financial resources, as well as feasibility and effectiveness analyses, three strategies are prioritized:

- Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala
- Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond
- Creation of safe play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala

6 **Implementation and practice**

6.1 Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala

Community trainings will be implemented to raise the awareness about the health hazards caused by arsenic and lead, as well as their routes of exposure and safe behavior practices. The trainings will be conducted for different population groups, particularly parents of children of kindergarten age and attending primary schools, teachers and healthcare providers of kindergartens and schools, local NGOs, high school students, and active community members. The recruitment of training participants will be conducted in the following basis: The Lori municipality will electronically inform all the heads of kindergartens and schools as well as NGOs of Alaverdi and Akhtala regarding the continuous educational program, sending the preliminary scheduled timeframe of the trainings to specific population groups, and contacts of educational program representative. After that, the program representative will contact all the informed officials, and ask them to send the employees list (schools, kindergartens, and NGOs) as well as contacts of all the parents (schools, kindergartens). The participants will be randomly selected from each list provided by officials, then contacted and invited to the trainings. The total number of trainings and number of participants for each training depends on the budget of the program.

The availability of educational materials will save time and financial resources during the project proposal preparation process. The training manual used for Akhtala community empowerment project will be adapted to local needs, followed by adding the slag related information in the presentations and slag related questions to the pre-test and post- test.³³ The trainers should be trained prior to the start of the project and should have a health degree. Technical resources such as projector and computer, transportation resources, and stationery will be required to organize and conduct the trainings.

6.2 Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond

The intervention will start with preparation of comprehensive capping and clean-up proposal with the help of environmental engineers. Barriers for implementation can be the lack of financial, human, and technical resources. The whole area should be covered by clean soil. The clean soil layer height should be based on the best international practice. After the coverage, the same species of plants will be planted in non-covered part of "Nazik" tailing pond, as were used before. After the capping and planting, the whole area of tailing should be fenced in order to prevent the free entry for humans and animals. The signboards should be placed in order to warn people about the contamination.

6.3 Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala

Considering the vulnerability of children to arsenic and lead poisoning, and their propensity towards hand-to-mouth behavior, it is crucial to ensure safe play areas for them. The project team will identify all kindergarten and school play areas, requesting the information from Lori Municipality, as well as most popular places for children's daily activities, using observation techniques. The registry of all play areas will be created and a comprehensive clean-up proposal will be developed. The contaminated soil should then be removed from those areas using heavy machinery, replaced with clean soil and then covered with grass. Thorough assessment of arsenic and lead contamination depth will help to understand the level of contamination, the depth of soil to be removed, and the quantity of clean (low-lead and arsenic) soil for replacement.

7 Evaluation

7.1 Continuous educational program in Alaverdi and Akhtala

The approval by Institutional Review Board will be required prior to the program evaluation. The evaluation of the intervention hypothesize that the average percent score of all training participants will be 23% (absolutely) higher in the follow-up survey at the end of each training, as compared with the average score of the baseline survey, at the beginning of each training.³³ The trainings evaluation will be carried out separately in Alaverdi and Akhtala.

The evaluation of the trainings will be conducted by independent evaluators, through baseline (before each training) and follow-up (after each training) surveys using pre-post-test pre-experimental panel design. The evaluation instrument will be adapted from the Akhtala community empowerment project, and pretested prior to the baseline and follow-up survey.³³

The evaluation team will enter the data into a previously created SPSS database, clean the data, and proceed with the data analyses. The dependent variable will be the knowledge percent score. The independent variable will be the presence or absence of the intervention. The intervening variables for the outcome variable of knowledge score will be the age, gender, education, employment status, belonging to certain targeted population group, perceived socio-economic status, smoking status, family size, monthly spending of the family, and having mine worker in the family. ^{33,37,41}

7.2 Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond

The evaluation of effectiveness of capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond will be carried out by baseline and follow-up soil samples from the pond, using US EPA operating procedures on soil sampling as a guideline.⁵¹ Baseline soil sampling of tailing pond before the

intervention, and follow up soil sampling of tailing pond after the intervention, as well as sampling of capped and planted pond once per every six months continuously, will be conducted using US EPA suggestions on soil sampling: one soil sample per each 84 square meters of capped soil is required in superficial 1 inch (~2.5 cm) depth.⁵¹ A database will be created containing data of all soil sample results. The evaluation will hypothesize that after the intervention, during all the follow-up soil samplings, the concentration of arsenic and lead in all soil samples will not exceed the MAC levels for each metal.

7.3 Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala

Evaluation of creation of safe play areas for children will be conducted by sampling superficial 1 inch depth soil, in terms of arsenic and lead concentration at least twice a year.⁵² The sampling technique should be consistent with guidelines developed by the Blacksmith Institute for child play areas. The independent trained investigator will divide the whole area into 9-12 equal subareas, then take 3-5 soil samples from the center of each subarea, for measuring the mean concentration from each subarea.⁵³ In case of detecting arsenic and lead concentrations exceeding the MAC level, the superficial contaminated layer should be removed replaced, and covered with grass again.

8 Conclusion

Exposure to arsenic and lead in mining and smelting communities of Alaverdi and Akhtala is one of the hot public health issues in Armenia. The international practice shows, that tremendous amount of financial resources, appropriate human and technical resources, as well as contribution from the government is required for proper remediation of contaminated environment and assurance of clean soil, water, and air for the community members living in Alaverdi and Akhtala. Nevertheless, isolation of contaminated hotspots, assurance of clean playing areas for

children, and continuous educational programs to raise the awareness on toxic metals are important immediate interventions needed to reduce the community members' exposure to toxicants.

Reference list

- 1. Hornby FM. Oxford Advanced Leraners Dictionary of Current English. Oxford University Press; 2000.
- 2. Jarup L. Hazard of heavy metal contamination. *Br Med Bull*. 2003; 68: 167-182. doi:10.1093/bmb/ldg032.
- 3. Overview of Mining and its Impacts. In: *A Guidebook for Evaluating Mining Project EIAs*. Environmental Law Alliance Worldwide (ELAW). 1st ed. USA; 2010. https://www.elaw.org/files/mining-eia-guidebook/Full-Guidebook.pdf.
- 4. Donoghue AM. Occupational health hazards in mining: an overview. *Occupational Medicine*. 2004; 54(5): 290-296. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqh072.
- 5. Adal A. Heavy Metal Toxicity. Medscape website: https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/814960-overview. Updated January 6, 2018.
- 6. ATSDR's Substance Priority List. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry website. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/spl/.2017.
- 7. World Health Organization. WHO | Lead Poisoning and Health. http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/lead-poisoning-and-health. February 9, 2018. Accessed June 24, 2018.
- 8. List of classifications. International Agency for Research on Cancer website. http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Classification/latest_classif.php. Accessed June 24, 2018.
- 9. Abadin H, Ashizawa A, Stevens Y-W, et al. *Toxicological profile for lead*. Atlanta, Georgia: US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. 2007.
- 10. Lead. Toxic substances portal. US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry website. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxfaqs/tf.asp?id=93&tid=22. 2017.
- 11. Lead and Your Health. National Institutes of Environmental Health Sciences website. https://www.niehs.nih.gov/health/materials/lead and your health 508.pdf. 2005.
- 12. Arsenic. Toxic substances portal. US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry website. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxfaqs/tf.asp?id=19&tid=3. 2007.
- 13. Cadmium. Toxic substances portal. US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry website. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxfaqs/tf.asp?id=47&tid=15. 2008.
- 14. Faroon O, Ashizawa A, Wright S, et al. *Toxicological Profile for Cadmium*. Atlanta, Georgia: US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp5-p.pdf. 2012.

- 15. Mercury and the Environment. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry website. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/sites/toxzine/mercury_toxzine.html. 2015.
- 16. Metallic Mercury. Toxic substances portal. US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry website. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxfaqs/tf.asp?id=1195&tid=24. 2001.
- 17. Calain P. What Is the Relationship of Medical Humanitarian Organisations with Mining and Other Extractive Industries? *PLoS Med.* 2012; 9(8). doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001302.
- 18. Petrosyan V, Grigoryan R. Initial Site Screenings in Polluted Communities in Armenia. 2014. http://www.collegiumramazzini.org/download/Petrosyan14.pdf.
- 19. Morrice E, Colagiuri R. Coal mining, social injustice and health: A universal conflict of power and priorities. *Heal Place*. 2013; 19(1):74-79. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2012.10.006.
- 20. Geographic Characteristics of the Republic of Armenia. Statistical Yearbook of Armenia website; 2017:8. http://armstat.am/file/doc/99489173.pdf.
- 21. Mining in Armenia, a Comprehensive Overview. 2015. https://transparency.am/files/publications/1441976340-0-455713.pdf.
- 22. Hickman D. Measures to Address Arsenic Risks in Lori Marz, Armenia. 2014; http://aarhus.am/Expert_PDF/DraftReport.05Dec14.pdf.
- 23. Akopyan K., Petrosyan V, Grigoryan R, Melkom Melkomian D. Environmental characterization of 11 metal mining and smelting communities in Armenia: lead, arsenic and other heavy metal concentrations in residential soil. American University of Armenia School of Public Health, Center for Health Services Research and Development, Yerevan, Armenia, 2014. http://chsr.aua.am/files/2015/01/TRA-report-_ENG-webpage-June_2015-2.pdf. 2014.
- 24. Akopyan K, Petrosyan V, Grigoryan R, Melkom Melkomyan D. Assessment of residential soil contamination with arsenic and lead in mining and smelting towns of northern Armenia. *J Geochemical Explor*. 2017; 97(108). doi:10.1016/j.gexplo.2017.10.01.
- 25. Human and technical resources. Armenian copper program website. http://acp.am/en/Human-and-Technical-Resources. Accessed April 2, 2018.
- 26. Nature Protection. Armenian copper program website. http://acp.vallexgroup.am/hy/CSR-and-Nature-Protection-Nature-Protection.
- 27. Paremuzyan L. Alaverdi's Arsenic "graveyard"- a continuing threat to residents and the

- environment. https://ecolur.org/en/news/waste/alaverdis-arsenic-graveyard-a-continuing-threat-to-residents-and-the-environment/566/. Published 2009. Accessed April 28, 2018.
- 28. Nazaryan G. *Geo Alaverdi. Environment and Urban Development*. http://aarhus.am/publications/3 eng.pdf. 2009.
- 29. Paremuzyan L. They've also buried chemical waste in the Alaverdi "Arsenic graveyard." http://www.ecolur.org/en/news/mining/theyve-also-buried-chemical-waste-in-the-alaverdi-arsenic-graveyard/192/. Published 2009. Accessed April 28, 2018.
- 30. Փար ե մ ո ւ զ յ ան Լ. «Ար մ ե ն ի ան Քափը ր Փր ո գ ր ամ ը » ձ մ ո ան ը կ ապար ի , մ կ ն դ ե ղ ի և ք ր ո մ ի մ ե ծ պար ո ւ ն ակ ո ւ թ յ ո ւ ն ն ե ր ո վ 110 տո ն ն ա խար ամ է h ատկ աց ր ե լ Ալ ավ ե ր դ ո ւ ք աղ աք ապե տար ան ի ն . http://hetq.am/arm/news/76149/armenian-qapyr-programy-dzmrany-kapari-mkndexi-ev-qromi-metsparunakutyunnerov-110-tonna-kharam-ehatkacrel-alaverdu-qaxaqapetaranin.html. Published 2017. Accessed April 28, 2018.
- 31. Mines of Armenia. Transparency International Anticorruption Center website. https://transparency.am/en/assets/mines.
- 32. Փար ամ ու զյ ան Լ. Տնօրեն Լյովա Վարդանյ անը թաքցնում է «Ախթալ ա ԼՀԿ»-ի ար տադրական պոչ երը Դեբեդ գետ լցնելու պատձ առները. https://hetq.am/arm/news/84528/tnoren-lyova-vardanyany-taqcnum-e-akhtala-lhk-i-artadrakan-pochery-debed-get-lcnelu-pattcharnery.html/. Published 11 Dec. 2017.
- 33. Petrosyan V, et al. Akhtala Pilot Project on Community Empowerment. Final Report. http://auachsr.com/UserFiles/File/2015 CHSR/Akhtala Pilot Project_Final Report 2014.pdf. 2014.
- 34. Մովսիսյան Հ. Շամլուղի Հանքավայրի Շահագործման և Հանքաքարարի Հարստացման Պոչերի և Պոչամբարների Շահագործման Պայմանների Առաջնահերթ Պայմանների Վերաբերյալ. http://aarhus.am/Expert_2015/2-Expertise%20Akhtala.pdf.
- 35. Մկ ն դ ե ղ ` Ախթ ալ այ ի ե կ ե ղ ե ց ո ւ բ ակ ո ւ մ . Civilnet website videoarchive. May 2013.
- 36. Petrosyan V, Orlova A, Dunlap CE, Babayan E, Farfel M, Von Braun M. Lead in residential soil and dust in a mining and smelting district in northern Armenia: A pilot study. *Environ Res.* 2004; 94(3): 297-308. doi:10.1016/S0013-9351(03)00113-0.
- 37. Grigoryan R, Petrosyan V, Melkom Melkomian D, Khachadourian V, McCartor A, Crape B. Risk factors for children's blood lead levels in metal mining and smelting communities in Armenia: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*. 2016; 16(1):945. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3613-9.

- 38. Sargsyan A. Reproductive Health Problems among Women of Childbearing Age in Alaverdi (Lori marz) and Artik (Shirak marz) Cities: a Cross-sectional Survey. 2013.
- 39. Center for Disease Control and Prevention | The Social-Ecological Model: A Framework for Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/overview/social-ecologicalmodel.html.
- 40. Stefes CH, Weingartner K. *Environmental Crime in Armenia*. 2015. https://www.ecologic.eu/11807.
- 41. Malcoe LH, Lynch RA, Keger MC, Skaggs VJ. Lead Sources, Behaviors, and Socioeconomic Factors in Relation to Blood Lead of Native American and White Children: A Community-Based Assessment of a Former Mining Area. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2002; 110(August 2001): 221-231.
- 42. Meyer I, Heinrich J, Lippold U. Factors affecting lead and cadmium levels in house dust in industrial areas of eastern Germany. *Sci Total Environ*. 1999; 234(1-3):25-36. doi:10.1016/S0048-9697(99)00164-3.
- 43. Liu J, Liu X, Wang W, et al. Blood Lead Levels and children's Behavioral and Emotional Problems: A Cohort Study. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2014; 168(8): 737-745. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.332.
- 44. Vivoda V, Fulcher J. Monitoring , Enforcement and Compliance. Mining legislation reform Initiative. 2017.
- 45. Հայ աս տան ի Հան ր ապե տու թյ ան Բն ակ ան Պաշ ար ն ե ր ի Կառ ավ ար մ ան Ռազ մ ավ ար ու թյ ու ն . http://www.irtek.am/views/act.aspx?aid=94116.
- 46. Կատ ավ արությունը ն ախատեսում է մեղմել օրին ապահ հարկ վ մարողների ն կատմամբ վարչ արարությունը և նվազեցնել հարկային ստվերի ռիսկերը։ ՀՀ Կատ ավարության Պաշ տոն ական լրահոս. 2018. http://www.gov.am/am/news/item/13459.
- 47. Մար տի ր ո ս յ ան Մ. Մկ ն դ ե ղ ի գ ե ր ե զ մ ան ո ց ի «ո ւ ր վ ակ ան ը »՝ Ալ ավ ե ր դ ի ո ւ մ . https://archive.168.am/articles/24443. Published 2010.
- 48. Standards Applicable to Owners and Operators of Hazardous Waste Treatment, Storage, and Disposal Facilities. US Environmental Protection Agency. 1980. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-03/documents/45fr33154.pdf.
- 49. Rock SB, Pivetz K, Madalinski NA, Wilson T. Introduction to Phytoremediation. Environmental Protection Agency. 2000; (February): 1-72. EPA/600/R-99/107. https://cfpub.epa.gov/si/si_public_record_report.cfm?dirEntryId=63433.

- 50. Wuana RA, Okieimen FE. Heavy Metals in Contaminated Soils: A Review of Sources, Chemistry, Risks and Best Available Strategies for Remediation. *ISRN Ecol.* 2011; 2011:1-20. doi:10.5402/2011/402647.
- 51. Simmons K, Deatric J, Levis B. Soil Sampling. *Us Epa.* 2014:1-24. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-06/documents/Soil-Sampling.pdf.
- 52. Ground Water Technical Guidance: Site Investigation, Remedial Investigation, Remedial Action Performance Monitoring. Protection Site Remediation Program. US EPA New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. 2012. http://www.nj.gov/dep/srp/guidance/srra/gw_inv_si_ri_ra.pdf.
- 53. Caravanos J, Soil Sampling Methodology for Lead (Pb). Blacksmith institute. http://www.blacksmithinstitute.org/docs/sample1.pdf.
- 54. Nriagu JO. A History of Global Metal Pollution. *Science*. 1996; 272 doi: 10.1126/science.272.5259.223.

Tables

Table 1: Intervention strategies

| Eligibility criteria | Continuous Educational Program in Alaverdi and Akhtala | Seismic stabilization and hermetisation of walls of arsenic graveyard in Alaverdi | Clean-up of Akhtala churchyard | Clean-up of children's play areas in Alaverdi and Akhtala | Capping, planting and isolation of "Nazik" tailing pond ion Akhtala |
|--|--|--|--------------------------------------|---|---|
| Intervention's effectiveness | +++ | ++++ | ++++ | +++ | +++ |
| Intervention political, technical and economic feasibility | ++++ | + | + | +++ | +++ |
| Intervention's cost | +++ | ++++ | ++++ | ++ | +++ |
| Intervention's sustainability | +++ | ++++ | ++++ | ++ | +++ |
| Priority setting | ++++ | + | ++ | ++++ | ++++ |

+ Very low ++ Low +++Medium ++++High

Appendix 1:

The process of mining:

Mining techniques were developed in ancient times.⁵⁴ During the Roman Empire, due to mining, people could extract and use metals such as copper (Cu), lead (Pb), zinc (Zn) and mercury (Hg).⁵⁴ The mining process starts with extraction of mineral ore, the part of the earth containing different elements. Even rich ores have only a small percent of the desired mineral. Frequently, the mineral ore is located under the layer of ordinary rock or soil³ Different methods are used for accessing mineral ore, including placer mining, underground mining, and open-pit mining. Frequently, removal or burning of vegetation growing in the area of interest is required in order to access the ore. The extraction of ore is being done using heavy machinery. The process of ore extraction leads to a significant amount of fugitive dust emissions.³

The ore extraction is followed by beneficiation, which evolves the ore milling to separate desirable elements from undesirable particles. The result of milling is transformation of the ore into very small, mobile particles. The desired ore is then separated from other particles using different technologies, such as gravity concentration, magnetic separation (metals), leaching with cyanide, and others.³

Leaching with cyanide needs to be highlighted due to serious environmental and public health impacts. Leaching is usually used with silver, gold, and copper ores. After creation of a large leach pile above an impermeable pad, cyanide containing solution is sprayed on the leach pile, which dissolves the metals. The solution with metals then is collected with the help of pipes.³ Then, tailings, the amount of ore remaining after the beneficiation, should be disposed of. Tailing disposal could be via (a) creation of tailing ponds (wet tailings), (b) dewatering and

burying of dry tailings as backfill (the most environmentally preferable option), and (3) tailing disposal in the sea.³

Appendix 2:

Social-ecological model³⁹ of exposure of community members of Alaverdi and Akhtala to arsenic and lead.

